
Department of City Development 
 
Request for Qualifications #57670       Addendum #4 
Title Search, Report and Closing Services              January 4, 2017 
 

THIS ADDENDUM IS ISSUED TO MODIFY, CLARIFY OR CORRECT THE ORIGINAL 
DOCUMENTS AND IS HEREBY MADE A PART OF SAID DOCUMENTS. 

 
A. The forms attached to this addendum as “Attachment D” shall replace in their entirety 
the documents that made up Attachment D in the original RFP.  As of January 1, 2017, the 
Ordinance pertaining to Local Business Enterprise has been amended.  These forms reflect 
the update language. 
 
B. The following language is to replace the current RFP language in Section IV (G). Scope of 
Services: 

 
The Contractor shall invoice DCD, on a periodic basis for the title search and report services 
and title insurance commitments and/or policies provided in accordance with the 
Contractor’s fee schedule.  Invoices for services should be submitted (to the individual 
requestor) along with all deliverables for the said services requested. 

 
C.  The bolded language is to modify the original language in Section V (B). Selection:  
 

If a Local Business Enterprise (LBE) is a responsive and responsible Proposer, an additional 
number of points equal to 5% of the maximum number of points used in the evaluation of the 
RFP shall be applied to the total score attained by the LBE.  If a local business enterprise is 
also certified as a small business enterprise under s. 370-25, the award standards set forth 
in pars. A to d shall be 10%. 

 
D.  Below are the Questions asked through the time frame of the RFQ and the Answers that 
were given. 

 
Question 1: There are references throughout the document to: Contractor, Company, Developer and 
Consultant.  Can I assume that you mean all of these terms to be the "Title Company"?  For my company 
I'm assuming for each of these terms you mean my firm? 
 
Answer 1: Yes, that is correct; Contractor, Company, Developer and Consultant are all to have the 
definition of Contractor.  There will be an updated version of the General RFQ requirements posted with 
the addendum. 
 
Question 2: The contract requires a monthly invoice for our products and services (item G, Page 5) yet 
the Appendix A requires in several places that we submit an invoice with each product. Which is correct?   
 
Answer 2: Invoice for services should be submitted (to the individual requestor) along with all 
deliverables for the said services requested.  An update to the language in IV (G) on page 5 will be posted 
in the addendum. 
 
Question 3: Item D on Page 3 discusses a list of insurances that need to be provided "prior to the contract 
execution."  After the 4th example the paragraph begins "The Consultant shall provide DCD with...."   
Which sentence applies?  Our company has all of these insurance coverages in place but it doesn't make 
sense to get certificates for the City until we win the bid.  Do you agree?   
 



Answer 3: A Certificate of Insurance is not needed until such time after the submittals are 
received/reviewed and a contract is awarded. 
 
Question 4: Of the approximately 500 sales last year, what percent were Title Reports ordered vs. Title 
Insurance Commitments?  
 
Answer 4: 52.7% were letter reports and 47.3 were title insurance commitments. 
 
Question 5: Does leasing office space at the county courthouse for title research purposes allow us to be 
considered for Local Business Enterprise (LBE) status, even if our office there is not permanently staffed? 
 
Answer 5: According to the definitions in the Ordinance, a Local Business Enterprise would be on that 
“Operates a business, or owns or leases real property within the geographical boundaries of the city of 
Milwaukee.”  It further clarifies that by saying “Leased property shall not suffice to establish compliance 
with this paragraph unless at least half of the acreage of all of the real property owned, operated or leased 
by the business is located within the geographical boundaries of the city of Milwaukee.” Further 
requirements would be listed below in the ordinance definitions.  For a link to the full ordinance, please 
go to http://city.milwaukee.gov/cityclerk/ordinances/tableofcontents 

And click on #365. 

2. LOCAL BUSINESS ENTERPRISE means a business which satisfies all of the following criteria: 
a. Operates a business, or owns or leases real property within the geographical boundaries of the city 
of Milwaukee. Post office box numbers shall not suffice to establish compliance with this paragraph. 
A residential address may suffice to establish compliance with this paragraph, but only if the business 
does not operate another business, or own or lease other real property, either within or outside the 
geographical boundaries of the city of Milwaukee. Leased property shall not suffice to establish 
compliance with this paragraph unless at least half of the acreage of all of the real property owned, 
operated or leased by the business is located within the geographical boundaries of the city of 
Milwaukee. b. Has been doing business within the geographical boundaries of the city of Milwaukee 
for at least one year. c. Is not delinquent in the payment of any local taxes, charges, or fees, or has 
entered into an agreement to pay any delinquency and is abiding by the terms of the agreement. d. 
Will perform at least 10% of the monetary value of the work required under the contract. 

 
Question 6: Does the insurance coverage need to cover any and all employees? Automobile Liability, 
Each accident $1,000,000.  To include: Coverage for all owned, non-owned, and hired vehicles. 
 
Answer 6: Yes 
 
Question 7: Does the settlement agent need to verify deposits for the funds used for closing and 
rehabilitation of the property to be purchased? Prior to closing. If yes how long is the approval good for? 
and how long before closing can the settlement agent verify the funds? 
 
Answer 7: Yes.  The verification should be completed a week prior to closing and would be good for 30 
days. 
 
Question 8: Will the City require that the settlement agent’s office used for closing be in compliance with 
the Americans with Disabilities act? 
 
Answer 8:  The Contract will be required to comply with all of the requirements of all federal, state and 
local laws. 
 
Question 9: How much does the City currently pay for settlement services for a residential transaction? 
 



Answer 9: We are currently paying a $150.00 closing fee for each transaction involving either a title 
commitment or a letter report. 
 
Question 10: In the process of creating this specific RFQ what staff was involved and did they consult or 
meet with any settlement agents prior to the release of the RFQ? 
 
Answer 10: Pursuant to the integrity of the procurement process, identification of individual DCD staff 
involved in the creation of this RFQ is not available at this time.  City did not consult or meet with any 
settlement agents prior to the release of this specific RFQ. 
 
Question 11: Will the City allow the settlement agent/title company to use any underwriter licensed by 
the State of Wisconsin to issue title policies? Or do they reserve the right to choose which underwriter the 
title insurance is issued by? 
 
Answer 11:  We will allow them to choose, but reserve the right to direct them to an underwriter of our 
choosing. 
 
Question 12: Will the Seller attend the closing for the sale of properties? 
 
Answer 12: Seller does not usually attend residential closings.  Seller performs closings for other types of 
transactions on occasion.  Seller performs closings for special residential sales, on occasion. 
 
Question 13: Will the seller allow the settlement agent to sign the closing statements on behalf of the 
City? 
 
Answer 13: No. 
 
Question 14: Will the seller allow the settlement agent to sign the Closing disclosure statement when 
applicable for the sale of a City owned property? 
 
Answer 14: No. 
 
Question 15: Who is responsible to create a sellers closing disclosure if one is needed for closing? 
 
Answer 15: A sellers closing statement is required for each transaction.  A preliminary closing statement 
is prepared by the City then forwarded to the title company so that they can prepare the final closing 
statement. 
 
Question 16: If there are lender changes at closing will the settlement agent be allowed to sign the new 
settlement statement on behalf of the seller? 
 
Answer 16: No. 
 
Question 17: Has the City as the seller ever reversed or terminated a closing after it has been 
consummated?  
 
Answer 17: No. 
 
Question 18: Page 6 – Local Business Enterprise – “If an LBE is a responsive and reasonable Proposer, 
an additional number of points equal to 5% of the maximum points can be awarded.”  What does it mean 
to be responsive and reasonable?  of compliance. 
 
Answer 18:  The language in the RFQ is “responsive and responsible.”  Responsive means that all 
documentation has been received, on time, and in proper order.  Responsible refers to the capabilities of 
the Proposer to perform the duties as outlined in the RFQ. 
 



Question 19: Page 12 – Bankruptcy searches are limited to only the Eastern district, correct?  
 
Answer 19: Yes, that is correct. 
 
Question 20: Page 12 – Under “Required Title Report Information” there is a request for “Title issue 
research.”  Can you specifically define what that is?  
 
Answer 20: From time to time the department acquires privately owned parcels and more complicated 
transactions.  On occasion properties are discovered that don’t have clean title when they should or other 
issues that require further research by the vendor in collaboration with the department 
 
Question 21: Page 12 – The ten calendar day Delivery Requirement is acceptable.  Will there be a 
volume limit however?  (i.e. if title vendor receives 100 requests in two days, a ten day turn time may be 
challenging.)   
 
Answer 21: Yes.  The volume limit would be 50. 
 
Question 22: Page 12 – Means of delivery – Does the title vendor choose any of the acceptable means of 
delivery?  
 
Answer 22: The preferred method of delivery would be electronic. 
 
Question 23: Page 12 – Under Volume Estimate, it indicates that last year the DCD sold ~ 500 properties 
that required either a letter report or title commitment.  In what situations would the DCD rely on a letter 
report to close?  (We can only close on a title commitment.)   
 
Answer 23: On transactions where the sales price is less than $5,000.00, the title company would be 
asked to also close the files that only required a Letter Report with the understanding that no insurances 
are involved. 
 
Question 24: Page 13 – Under “Required Title Report Information” there is another request for “Title 
issue research.”  Can you specifically define what that is?  
 
Answer 24: From time to time the department acquires privately owned parcels and more complicated 
transactions.  On occasion properties are discovered that don’t have clean title when they should or other 
issues that require further research by the vendor in collaboration with the department 
 
Question 25: Page 13 – To be clear, you are requesting us only to conduct the closing based on the 
closing statement & documents you give us, correct?   
 
Answer 25: No, we would expect the title company to prepare some of the documents, i.e. closing 
statement, Wisconsin Real Estate Transfer form, Property Recording form, Code compliance application. 
 
Question 26: Page 15 – For loan closings, you are requesting that we prepare all documents and conduct 
the physical closing, correct?   
 
Answer 26: We do not ask the title company to prepare our loan documents.  On a rare occasion, we ask 
the title company to conduct the physical closing.  

 
Question 27: Would you please let me know about LBE?  We have 43 offices in Wisconsin.  Our largest 
office is in the City of MKE and the CEO is a resident of the City as are many staff members.  I'm a little 
confused about whether we qualify.   It looks like we qualify but since we have other offices outside of 
the City there appears to be an acreage calculation.  Since we're in office buildings how would you like us 
to calculate that?  We meet all other bullet points on the qualification list.   



 
Answer 27: Please know that as of January 1, 2017, Chapter 365 of the City of Milwaukee’s Ordinances 
regarding the Local Business Enterprise program has been amended. 
 
According to the definitions in the Ordinance, a Local Business Enterprise would be on that “Operates a 
business, or owns or leases real property within the geographical boundaries of the city of Milwaukee.”  It 
further clarifies that by saying “Leased property shall not suffice to establish compliance with this 
paragraph unless at least half of the acreage of all of the real property owned, operated or leased by the 
business is located within the geographical boundaries of the city of Milwaukee.”  That said, if your 
firm’s Milwaukee office is owned by your firm, then by definition, it would qualify as an LBE.  If your 
firm’s Milwaukee office is leased, then the acreage (square footage) of the Milwaukee office would need 
to be at least 50% of the total square feet of total office space leased by your firm 
 
 

ALL PROPONENTS SHALL ACKNOWLEDGE RECEIPT AND ACCEPTANCE OF 
ADDENDUM NUMBER 4 (DATED January 4, 2017) FOR REQUEST FOR 
QUALIFICATIONS #57670, BY SIGNING IN THE SPACE PROVIDED AND SUBMITTING 
THE SIGNED ADDENDUM WITH YOUR SUBMITTAL.  SUBMITTALS SUBMITTED 
WITHOUT THIS ADDENDUM MAY BE CONSIDERED NON-RESPONSIVE. 
 
 

SIGNED THIS _________ DAY OF _________________, 201__. 
 

________________________________________________ 
SIGNATURE 

 
_______________________________________________ 

COMPANY NAME  
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DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION 
PURCHASING DIVISION 

 
 

 
LOCAL BUSINESS ENTERPRISE (LBE) PROGRAM 

AFFIDAVIT OF COMPLIANCE 
 

 
IMPORTANT:  This form must be submitted with your bid to be considered for LBE status. 
 
Bid/RFP #:  
 
Company Name: 

 

 
Address: 

 

 
City, State, Zip 

 

 
This signed and notarized affidavit of compliance will be the contractor’s sworn statement that the business satisfies all of 
the following criteria: 

1. Operates a business, or owns or leases property within the geographical boundaries of the City of Milwaukee.  
Post office boxes shall not suffice to establish status as a Local Business Enterprise. 

2. A residential address may suffice to establish compliance as a Local Business Enterprise, but only if the business 
does not operate another business, or own or lease other real property, either within or outside the geographical 
boundaries of the City of Milwaukee. 

3. Leased property shall not suffice to establish compliance as a Local Business Enterprise unless at least half of the 
acreage of all the real property owned or leased by the business is located within the geographical boundaries of 
the City of Milwaukee. 

4. Has been doing business in the City of Milwaukee for at least one (1) year. 
5. The business is not delinquent in the payment of any local taxes, charges or fees, or the business has entered into 

an agreement to pay any delinquency and is abiding by the terms of the agreement. 
6. The business will perform at least 10% of the monetary value of the work required under the contract. 

 
IMPORTANT: Is your business certified as a Small Business Enterprise (SBE) with the City of Milwaukee? 
                            Please Select:  ____Yes or ___No                                                           
 
NOTE:  If you are the primary owner of more than one business location and the other business location(s) is not located 
within the geographical boundaries of the City of Milwaukee, the business you are seeking to qualify as a Local Business 
Enterprise must serve as the primary functionally operational entity that is capable of providing the required services, 
commodities, or supplies for the purposes of this Bid/RFP.  If you own more than one business, please list the name of the 
business(es) and their addresses on the “Business Property Location” form. 
 
SITE VISITS:  Please note the contractor agrees to allow the City to verify Local Business Enterprise status by allowing 
City Staff to visit the operation(s) of the business that is seeking Local Business Enterprise status at any time without 
notice, in an effort to maintain the integrity of the City’s bidding process. 
 
I hereby declare compliance with the City of Milwaukee Code of Ordinances Chapter 365. 
 
Authorized Signature:  
 
Printed Name: 

 

 
Date: 
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NOTARIZATION 
 

Subscribed to before me on this __________ day of ______________________________ in the year ______________, at 

___________________________________ County, __________________________________ State. 

 
 
 
NOTARY PUBLIC SIGNATURE: ___________________________ 

(SEAL)  
 
 
 
 
 
PRINT NAME: __________________________________ My commission expires: _____________________ 
 
 
 
 

PLEASE SUBMIT THIS FORM WITH YOUR BID OR PROPOSAL TO: 
200 E. WELLS STREET, ROOM 601 
MILWAUKEE, WISCONSIN  53202 

OR FAX TO 414-286-5976 



Revised:  January 1, 2017 
DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION 

BUSINESS OPERATIONS DIVISION 
PROCUREMENT SERVICES SECTION 

 
 

LOCAL BUSINESS ENTERPRISE (LBE) PROGRAM 
BUSINESS PROPERTY LOCATION FORM 

 
 

Important Note:  This form must be submitted with your bid to be considered for 
LBE status. 
 
 
Bid / RFP #  
 
 
Property Location 1 

Name:  

Address:  

City, State, Zip  

 
 
Property Location 2 

Name:  

Address:  

City, State, Zip  

 
 
Property Location 3 

Name:  

Address:  

City, State, Zip  

 
 
Property Location 4 

Name:  

Address:  

City, State, Zip  

 
 

PLEASE SUBMIT THIS FORM WITH YOUR BID OR PROPOSAL  
 



General RFQ Requirements - REVISED 
 
1. Interpretations of RFQ – Any requests for interpretation should be submitted in writing to Scott 
Stange by email to sstang@milwaukee.gov.  No oral interpretations will be made to any Contractor 
as to the meaning of the RFQ requirements.  All interpretations will be posted and answered on the 
Internet. If you received your RFQ from the Internet you will be responsible for keeping abreast of 
the addenda as they come in.  All such addenda shall become a part of the RFQ, and all 
Contractors shall be bound by such, whether or not received by the Contractor.   
 
2. Receipt of Proposals - Proposals received prior to the time of opening will be secure.  The 
officer whose duty it is to open them will decide when the specified time has arrived, and no 
proposal received thereafter will be considered.  No responsibility will be attached to an officer for 
the premature opening of a proposal not properly addressed and identified. 
 
Contractors are cautioned to allow ample time for transmittal of proposals by mail or otherwise.  
Contractors should secure correct information relative to the probable time of arrival and 
distribution of mail at the place where proposals are to be forwarded. 
 
3. Withdrawal of Proposals - Proposals may be withdrawn on written request dispatched by the 
Contractor in time for delivery in the normal course of business prior to the time fixed for closing.  
Negligence on the part of the Contractor in preparing a proposal for offer to DCD confers no right of 
withdrawal or modification of the proposal after such proposal has been opened. In case of 
withdrawal of a proposal by a Contractor, the Contractor will be disqualified thereby from submitting 
a second proposal on the contract at hand.  See Section 66.0901(5), Wisconsin Statutes. 
 
4. Rejection of Proposals - DCD reserves the right to reject the proposal of any Contractor who 
has previously failed to perform properly or to complete on time contracts of a similar nature, 
who is not in a position to perform the contract, or who has habitually and without just cause 
neglected the payment of bills or otherwise disregarded his obligations to subcontractors or 
employees. 
 
5. Award of Contract - DCD Staff will evaluate proposals.  All proposals will be evaluated against 
the evaluation factors stated in this RFQ.  While the Contract Management Team intends to select 
a Contractor based on the proposals received, the Contract Management Team may invite the 
highest ranked firm/individual(s) to participate in an interview.  If one or more interviews are to be 
scheduled, a letter will be sent to the firm/individual(s) that is/are selected to participate, and 
this/these firm/individual(s) may be asked to provide more specific written information about their 
qualifications, methodology, and costs. Firms/individuals participating in the interviews must send 
the project manager and staff who will work on this project.  
 
After the contract is awarded, all of the firms who submitted a proposal will receive a written 
acknowledgment of their proposals.  DCD will not reimburse firms for any expenses associated 
with the submission of proposals or participation in the interviews. 

 
6.  Contract Payments - DCD and the Contractor will agree on a performance and payment 
schedule for both the property rehabilitation and property management and maintenance 
portions of the contract.  The Contractor will submit to DCD for payment requests based off of 
the agreed upon contract terms and conditions.   
 



7.  Termination of Contract for Cause   If, through any cause, the Contractor shall fail to fulfill in a 
timely and proper manner his obligations under this contract or if the Contractor shall violate any of 
the covenants, agreements or stipulations of this contract, DCD shall thereupon have the right to 
terminate this contract by giving written notice to the Contractor of such termination and specifying 
the effective date thereof, at least five work days before the effective date of such termination.  In 
such event, all finished or unfinished documents, data, studies, surveys, reports, or other material 
related to the services prepared by the Contractor under this contract shall, at the option of the 
DCD, become the property of DCD.  Notwithstanding the above, the Contractor shall not be 
relieved of liability to DCD for damages sustained by DCD by virtue of any breach of the contract 
by the Contractor. 
 
8.  Sales Tax - Pursuant to Section 77.54(9a) of the Wisconsin State Statutes, the City of 
Milwaukee is exempt from Wisconsin Use and Sales Tax. Contractors shall not add State of 
Wisconsin sales tax or use tax to their proposals.  Furthermore, Wisconsin Use and Sales Tax 
shall not be reimbursed to the Contractor for any taxes paid directly as the consumer, when 
obtaining materials, etc. to fulfill the contract requirements should they be the selected 
Contractor.  Contractors are responsible for determining the impact of the State of Wisconsin's 
Sale and Use Tax on their proposal. 
 
9.  Request for Proposal - This RFQ is not an offer to buy and must not be assumed as such.  
However, in the event a proposal results in contractual negotiations, the Contractor has the option 
to not convey and/or sell if compliance with any mandated clause or provision is undesirable or 
impossible. 
 
No information will be available to any Contractor regarding the status of his response.  However, 
DCD reserves the right to enter into discussion with Contractors for purposes of clarification or 
further information. 
 
10.  Miscellaneous - DCD reserves the right to waive informalities in any proposals, reject any 
or all proposals in whole or in part, with or without cause, and to accept that proposal which in 
its judgment best meets its needs.  DCD will require an Affidavit of No Interest, which provides 
that no official or employee of DCD, the Contract Management Team, and/or the City of 
Milwaukee has or will receive anything of value in connection with the issuance of this contract. 
 
11.  Equal Employment Opportunity - The Contractor agrees that there will not be 
discrimination as to race, sex, sexual orientation, religion, color, age, creed, or national origin in 
regard to obligation, work, and services performed under the terms of any contract ensuing from 
this RFQ.  Contractor must agree to comply with Executive Order No. 11246, entitled “Equal 
Employment Opportunity” and as amended by Executive Order No. 11375, as supplemented by 
the Department of Labor Regulations (41 CFR, Part 60). 

12.  Indemnification - The Contractor agrees that it will indemnify, save and hold harmless 
DCD and the City of Milwaukee, their officers, employees, or agents, from and against all 
claims, demands, actions, damages, loss, costs, liabilities, expenses, judgments, and litigation 
costs, including reasonable attorney’s fees, photocopying expenses and expert witness fees, 
recovered from or asserted against DCD or the City of Milwaukee on account of injury or 
damage to person or property or breach of contract to the extent that such damage, injury, or 
breach may be incident to, arising out of, or be caused, either directly or proximately, wholly or 
in part, by an act or omission, negligence or misconduct on the part of the Contractor or any of 
its agents, servants, employees or subcontractors. 

 



DCD shall tender the defense of any claim or action at law or in equity, arising out of or 
otherwise related to an act or omission, negligence, misconduct, or breach of contract on the 
part of the Contractor or any of its agents, servants, employees or subcontractors, to the 
Contractor or its insurer and, upon such tender, it shall be the duty of the Contractor and its 
insurer to defend such claim or action without cost or expense to DCD. 
 
13.  Slavery Disclosure - The successful Contractor will be required to submit an affidavit of 
compliance of slavery disclosure before a purchase order/contract can be executed (unless you 
have already done so and it is on file with the Business Operations Division of the City of 
Milwaukee). 
 
14. Ethics - It is the policy of the Department of City Development that contracts shall not be 
awarded to any Contractor team that includes individuals who have left City employment within 
the past 12 months, or individuals who are currently members of any City boards or 
commissions. 
 
15. Wisconsin Public Records Law - Both parties understand that the City of Milwaukee is 
bound by the Wisconsin Public Records Law, and as such, all of the terms of this Agreement 
are subject to and conditioned on the provisions of Wis. Stat. 19.21, et seq. The Contractor 
acknowledges that it is obligated to assist DCD in retaining and producing records that are 
subject to Wisconsin Public Records Law, and that the failure to do so shall constitute a material 
breach of this Agreement, and that the Contractor must defend and hold DCD harmless from 
liability under that law.  Except as otherwise authorized, those records shall be maintained for a 
period of seven years after receipt of final payment under this Agreement. 
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